RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Feb 10, 2015, 8:23 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

48601-6-11 NO. 90912-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AUTHUR WEST,

Repondent

٧.

STEVE VERMILLION & CITY OF PUYALLUP,

Petitioners

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT VERMILLION

(Corrected/Full Table)

Ramsey Ramerman WSBA # 30423 Ramerman Law Office PLLC 218 Main Street #319 Kirkland, WA 98033 (206) 949-6234

Attorney for Steve Vermillion

ORIGINAL

### TABLES OF CONTENTS

**Page** 

I.	INTRODUCTION	. 1
II.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR	. 3
III.	ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR	. 4
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	. 5
V.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT	. 7
VI.	ARGUMENT	. 9

#### I. INTRODUCTION

At first glance, this case appears to pit the Public Records Act against the constitutional right to privacy. But upon closer inspection, it is expected that the Court will find that by ruling in favor of Councilmember Vermillion's rights to privacy, the Court is also ruling in favor of the purposes of the PRA. While this case does pit disclosure obligations against privacy, disclosure is not the purpose of the PRA, rather the PRA serves "as a fundamental and necessary precondition to the sound governance of a free society." In other words, the disclosure obligations are only a tool to preserve our freedom.

The most "basic [characteristic] to a free society" is "[t]he security of one's privacy against arbitrary intrusion[.]" As the U.S. Supreme Court had repeatedly emphasized, "the child Independence was born" from our founding fathers' desire to retain their privacy. The primary purpose of the constitution itself was to "confer[], as against the Government, their right to be left alone – the most comprehensive of rights and the right most valued by civilized man."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Initiative 276, Laws of 1973, Ch. 1, Sec. 1(11), currently codified at RCW 42.17A.001(11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Frank v. Maryland, 359 U.S. 360, 375 (1959) (Douglas, J., dissenting).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Rilely v. California, -- U.S. --, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 2494 (2014) (quoting John Adams); see also Stanford v. Texas, 379 U.S. 476, 484-85 (1965) (noting how James Otis's legal change to the writs of assistance "inaugurated" the movement that led to the Revolutionary War).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Rhinehart v. Seattle Times, 98 Wn.2d 226, 240, 654 P.2d 673 (1982) (quoting Olmstead v. United States, 277 U.S. 438, 478 (1928) (Brandies, J., dissenting)), affirmed, 467 U.S. 20 (1984).

History shows that one of the most important aspects of our privacy rights is the right to engage in First Amendment political activity in private, outside of those in power. Thus, at the core of the "free society" that the people of this state seek to preserve though the Public Records Act is the right of the people to engage in political associations free from arbitrary surveillance by government. This was most recently summarized by Justice Gonzalez at the Conclusion of the majority opinion in *State v. Hinton*, where he wrote "Protecting the privacy of personal communications is essential for freedom of association and expression."<sup>5</sup>

The Court was not seeking to preserve the right to privacy in *Hinton* because it believed a drug users right to contact his dealer was an association that deserved special protecting. Rather, the Court protected Hinton's associational privacy because if government were allowed to invade their privacy, what would stop government from invading the privacy for relationships that are valued by society? As illustrated in pre-revolutionary England, and more recently in the struggles of the civil rights movement, one of the most valuable associations are those associations made for political causes.

In this way, the privacy rights of politicians thus become the most important tool we have for controlling government, because it allows us to engage in political associations to elect politicians who support our goals free from surveillance by those in power. Thus, the Court's rulings in favor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> State v. Hinton, 179 Wn.2d 862, 877, 319 P.3d 9 (2014).

of privacy, including the privacy of the disfavored, and the PRA are serving the same goals: both protect our free society, with a government that respects our "right to be left alone." <sup>6</sup> In the case at bar, a ruling in favor of a politician's privacy will thus further the goals of the PRA.

This should not be a surprise, of course, because the people, when they declared in 1972 that disclosure under the PRA was fundamental and necessary, added a qualifier, that we must be "mindful of the rights of individuals to privacy."<sup>7</sup>

As demonstrated in this brief, and illustrated by this Court in a long line of cases including the recent *Hinton* case, Steve Vermillion has constitutional rights of privacy in his private papers, including his personal email account. By ruling in favor of Vermillion, the Court will in fact be supporting the goals of the PRA.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error 1: The trial court erred when it ordered Vermillion to produce emails from his personal email account and swear under perjury that he had complied.

**Assignment of Error** 2: The trial court erred in ruling that a search would not violate Vermillion's privacy rights.

Assignment of Error 3: The trial court erred in ruling that the PRA provided sufficient guidance to allow Vermillion to distinguish between

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Rhinehart, 98 Wn.2d at 240.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Initiative 276, Laws of 1973, Ch. 1, Sec. 1(11), currently codified at RCW 42.17A.001(11).

emails that relate to city business and emails protected by associational privacy.

#### III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Issue pertaining to assignment 1: Does the PRA authorize an agency to require an elected official to search a personal email account?

Issue pertaining to assignment 2: Are privacy rights defined by the items sought and is an order compelling someone to produce records a search?

Issue pertaining to assignment 3: Is the phrase "containing information relating to the conduct of government" sufficiently narrow and protect associational privacy when applied to personal email accounts?

In addition to identifying these issues, it is important to identify what is **not** included in Vermillion's arguments. Vermillion is not arguing that he or anyone else has a constitutional right to conduct city business in secret. He is not arguing that he could not be compelled to produce emails from his personal email account under certain circumstances. And he is not arguing that emails sent from his personal account to the city are protected by associational privacy. All he is arguing is that he has a right to privacy in his personal email account and therefore any search or seizure must be reasonable and done with authority of law. In addition. He is arguing that the PRA as currently drafted does not meet constitutional standards.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns what obligations Puyallup City Councilmember Steve Vermillion has to respond to a PRA request from Arthur West to the City of Puyallup for: "communications received or posted by Mr. Vermillion at or on his website" that were "concerning the City of Puyallup, City business, or any matters related to City governance the City Council and mayor, or his membership on the City Council." CP 40-41.

Like many modern politicians, Councilmember Vermillion operates a personal website and has a personal email account associated with that website. CP 69-71. Vermillion started the website as a private citizen before running for any political office and originally used the website and email account to further personal aims, including his involvement in a veterans group and a community group working on restoring a city park. CP 69-71.

As he became more politically active, Vermillion began to use the website as a candidate, first when seeking a state legislative position and then when seeking a position on the Puyallup city council. CP 69-71. He has continued to use it for personal and political purpose, including to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The original request sought "All records of communications received by or communications or posting by Steve Vermillion concerning the City of Puyallup, City business, or any matters related to City governance the City Council and mayor, or his membership on the City Council", but West later narrowed the request "to the communications received or posted by Mr. Vermillion at or on his website." The request also included two other categories of records that were fulfilled and not at issue. CP 40-41

communicate with other candidates seeking positions on the Puyallup City Council. CP 69-71.

In additional to these other uses, since being elected Vermillion invites city residents – his constituents – to contact him through his website, which sends an email his personal email account. CP 69-71. On a few occasions, Vermillion has received emails through this link that request the City to address a particular issue. CP 69-71. Vermillion has forwarded these emails to the City. PCP 69-71.

When informed of the request, and after consulting with the City Attorney, Vermillion refused to produce records that were in his home, on his personal computer, or in his personal email account. CP 69-71.

The City then informed West that it would not be producing records from Vermillion's personal email account. CP 40-41. In response, West filed a PRA action against the City and Vermillion seeking to have Vermillion's personal computer subject to an independent forensic review. CP 1-9.

The Defendants both filed motions for summary judgment and West responded with a cross-motion for partial summary judgment. The trial court denied the Defendants' motion and granted West's motion in part,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> For a period of time, Councilmember Vermillion also received his official correspondence from the City. The City has produced all emails it sent to and received from Councilmember Vermillion's personal email account. The City disputes whether these emails were responsive to West's original request, but that issue is not before the court on appeal, as this appeal involves the single issue of whether emails located on a personal computer or in a personal email account are within the definition of "public record."

ordering Vermillion to produce the responsive emails within 30 days. CP 182-86. Finally, the Court then stayed this ruling and certified his decision for immediate review pursuant to CR 54(d). CP 186. This order became final on September 19, 2014, when the court denied reconsideration. The Defendants now seek discretionary review.

#### V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Councilmember Vermillion has a right to privacy in his personal email account. The trial court's order, which is based on the trial court's interpretation of "public record," violates that right and must be reversed.

Under the doctrine of constitutional avoidance, this Court should not construe the PRA to authorize the City of Puyallup to force Vermillion to search his personal email account and produce emails from that account because such a requirement would violate his rights to personal privacy under Article 1, Section 7 and associational privacy under the First Amendment.

Public disclosure laws implicate privacy rights under Article 1, Section 7 and the First amendment. Thus, such laws as subject to exacting scrutiny. To survive a constitutional challenge, such laws must serve a substantial governmental purpose and be narrowly tailored to serve that interest and must contain adequate privacy protections to qualify as "authority of law."

Personal communications and the places where such communications are stored have received the highest level of protection in recognition that the mere "[a]wareness that the Government may be

watching chills associational and expressive freedoms." *Hinton*, 179 Wn.2d at 877 (quotation omitted). Based on these protections, personal email accounts are private affairs protected by both Article 1, Section 7 and the First Amendment.

This protection remains in place once someone has been elected to serve on a city council. While the operational realities of the work-place can serve to reduce expectations of privacy in the work-place, such realties do not extinguish privacy rights in places where employees or officials have superior property rights. Thus, an employer's needs will not justify a warrantless search of a personal email account or personal electronic device.

While a substantial government interest like the need for accountability can justify affirmative disclosure requirement, such requirement must be tailored to serve that need to pass muster under the First Amendment. The PRA's obligations are too broad to meet this exacting scrutiny analysis. This is especially true for elected officials who have very limited powers and are subject to extensive regulations that already allow for sufficient public scrutiny.

Thus, if the PRA were held to include records in personal email accounts, it would raise constitutional doubts under Article 1, Section 7 and the First Amendment. These doubts can be avoided if the Court applies the doctrine of constitutional avoidance and adopts the defendants' proposed interpretation of "public record," which excludes records held exclusively by employees and officials in personal email accounts.

This narrowed construction is consistent with the ultimate purpose of the PRA, which is to protect a free society, including the essential element of liberty – our personal privacy.

This does not mean elected officials and public employees have a constitutional right to conduct the people's business in secret by using personal email accounts for city business. It just means that before the PRA can be used to pry into personal email accounts, the PRA must be amended to limit that intrusion to serve accountability and ensure that sufficient protections are available to protect the private affairs of those officials.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Court Should Apply the Doctrine of Constitutional Avoidance when It Conducts a De Novo Review of the Trial Court's Ruling and Interpretation the Term "Public Record"

The trial court interpreted the PRA to support the summary judgment order requiring Vermillion to produce emails from his personal email account that relate to "city business," because the trial court determined that emails in that account might contain "information relating to the conduct of government" and fit within the definition of "public record." The trial court rejected the defendants' proposed definition of public record, under which records in a personal email account or on a personal computer would be excluded from that definition. Both the court's summary judgment ruling and its interpretation of "public record" are subjected to de novo review. *City of Federal Way v. Koenig*, 167 Wn.2d 341, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009) ("Federal Way v. Koenig").

The trial court's ruling interprets the PRA to require the City of Puyallup to intrude on Vermillion's rights to personal privacy under Article 1, Section 7<sup>10</sup> and associational privacy under the First Amendment. And statute that intrudes on privacy must be "reasonably necessary to further substantial governmental interests that justify the intrusion." *State v. Chacon Arreola*, 176 Wn.2d 284, 291, 290 P.3d 983 (2012). Under Article 1, Section 7, such a statute must also qualify as authority of law. Under the First Amendment, the intrusion must meet exacting scrutiny. *Doe v. Reed*, 561 U.S. 186, 195 (2010).

To avoid chilling First Amendment rights, it must also be clearly defined and give wide birth to allow the free exercise of those rights. *VED*, 161 Wn.2d at 482. Stated another way, the burden on First Amendment rights must be narrowly tailored to serve an important governmental interest that justifies the obligation. *See Utter v. BIAW*, -- Wn.2d --, -- P.3d --, 2015 WL 276347 at \*18-\*19 ¶¶ 73-73 (2015) (noting disclosure obligation had survived "exacting scrutiny" because it was narrowly tailored to sufficiently important governmental interests).

A corollary to the narrowly tailored rule is the Court's "constitutional avoidance" doctrine. Utter, ¶ 73 ("We construe statutes to avoid constitutional doubt."). When doubts are raised about legislation that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> *Hinton*, 179 Wn.2d at 877 (suspect had privacy right in phone containing text messages).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Voters Educ. Committee v. Public Disclosure Commission, 161 Wn.2d 470, 166 P.3d 1174 (2007) ("VED") ("The United States Supreme Court has recognized that compelled disclosure may encroach on First Amendment rights by infringing on the privacy of association and belief.").

could infringe on First Amendment rights, the U.S. Supreme Court holds that "it is a cardinal principle that this Court will first ascertain whether a construction of a statute is fairly possible by which the question may be avoided." The "constitutional avoidance doctrine mandates" that when the Court faces two possible interpretations of a disclosure obligation, it should adopt the narrower interpretation that avoids constitutional issues, rather than the broader option that "arguably" fails to meet the narrowly tailored rule in the "exacting scrutiny" review. *Utter*, ¶¶ 72-73.

Statutes that implicate First Amendment rights such as disclosure statutes are particularly suspect and do not receive the presumption of constitutionality afforded to other statutes. *VED*, 161 Wn.2d at 482; *State v. Homan*, 181 Wn.2d 102, 111 n.7, 330 P.3d 182 (2014). Thus, when applying the constitutional avoidance doctrine, the Court will select a narrower interpretation that provides clear guidance and avoids constitutional doubt, even over a more literal reading that is overbroad or vague.<sup>13</sup>

ague.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> United States v. Rumely, 345 U.S. 41, 45 (1954); see also, e.g., San Juan County v. No New Gas Tax, 160 Wn.2d 141, 162-164, 157 P.3d 831 (2007) (noting preference for interpreting disclosure statute so it has bright line rules so it can avoid addressing any constitutional challenge to the legislation); Seeber v. Public Disclosure Commission, 96 Wn.2d 135, 142, 634 P.2d 303 (1981) (rejecting board interpretation of Public Disclosure Commission's ("PDC") subpoena power and thus avoiding constitutional privacy challenge).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> State v. Dan J. Evans Campaign Committee, 86 Wn.2d 503, 508, 546 P.2d 75 (1976) ("DJE") ("A fundamental guide to statutory construction is that the spirit or intention of the law prevails over the letter of the law."). This includes adopting a "strained" interpretation to avoid putting the constitutionality of legislature in "doubt." Rumely, 345 U.S. at 47 (quotation omitted); see also, e.g., Scales v. United States, 367 U.S. 203, 211 (1961) ("Court will often strain to construe legislation so as to save it against constitutional attack" as long as it does not undermind the intent).

As demonstrated below, if the term "public record" were interpreted to apply to personal email accounts, it would raise serious constitutional problems under Article 1, Section 7 and the First Amendment. These problems are avoided if the Court interprets the PRA so that it does not apply to personal email accounts.

## B. Personal Email Accounts Are Protected by Two Provisions in the Washington State Constitution

"Protecting the privacy of personal communications is essential for freedom of association and expression" because the "[a]wareness that the Government may be watching chills associational and expressive freedoms[.]" *State v. Hinton*, 179 Wn.2d 862, 877, 319 P.3d 9 (2014) (holding sender of a text message had a privacy interest in text message sent to a third party). Therefore, this Court has granted private communications and locations that store communications the strongest constitutional privacy protection.

### 1. The Right to Privacy Is the Most Basic and Fundamental Characteristic of a Free Society

The concerns of the chilling effects of government intrusion dates back to two landmark 1765 English cases known as the "Cases of the Seized Papers." These cases arose after a several-century-long struggle between the English Crown, who sought to expand their powers, and the people who sought to maintain their traditional rights as Englishmen to live free of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See Stanford v. Texas, 379 U.S. 476 (1965) (citing Entick v. Carrington and Wilkes v. Wood); see also State v. McCollum, 17 Wn.2d 85, 101, 136 P.2d 165 (1943) (opinion of Millard, J.) (noting these cases are referred to as the "Cases of the Seized Papers").

oppressive governmental interference.<sup>15</sup> After messengers of the Crown used a general warrant to enter the home of a disfavored member of parliament and a publisher and seize all of their personal papers looking for any criticisms of King George, the politician and publisher both sued.<sup>16</sup> The Court ruled that the messengers of the Crown were liable because the entry and seizure based on a general warrant violated the politician's and publisher's rights to privacy and was "totally subversive of the liberty" of "everyman[.]"<sup>17</sup>

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