Washington State Supreme Court

APR 3 0 2015

Ronald R. Carpenter

Clerk

48601-6-II No. 90912-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

STEVE VERMILLION AND
THE CITY OF PUYALLUP,
Appellants,

V.

ARTHUR WEST,

Respondent

RESPONDENT WEST'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF

1

### **

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

A. Appellants have waived or are equitably estopped from asserting a privacy interest in the records of the public business that Vermillion transacted secretly via a "personal" email account

Defendants gloss over the four (4) separate waivers of his privacy interests effected by council member Vermillion by his (1) taking an oath of office swearing to uphold the laws of the State of Washington, (including the Public Records Act), (2) violating the City's Social Media Policy, (3) deliberately comingling public and private activities on one website, in violation of ordinary and contemporary standards of care and the express warning he received from the City, and (4) failing to seek a protective order as allowed to protect any rights he may have had under the PRA itself, RCW 42.56.540.

Defendants, by failing to assert the privacy exemption contained in the Public Records Act and obtain a protection order as allowed under the PRA, have waived any claim to unconstitutionality of the PRA, as written or as applied, as they have failed to exhaust available remedies.

Having deliberately refused to obtain protection as allowed under the PRA's provision for an injunction, and being bound by a formal oath to abide by the Public Records Act, they simply lack standing to contest that the privacy protections of the law are inadequate. In addition, the Attorney General is a necessary party to any constitutional challenge to a State statute, and the defendants have failed to join the Attorney General. The doctrine of equitable estoppel (See Shafer v. State, 83 Wn.2d 618, 521 P.2d 736) also prevents Vermillion from asserting a privacy interest to communications received at a site where he deliberately conducted public business, and the public reasonably relied upon his actions to be public. In any case, a lack of standing and the failure to join a necessary party is fatal to the defendants' claims that the PRA is unconstitutional.

### B. Public officers have no historic or equitable privacy interest in conducting the business of the public in private that is cognizable under Article I, Section 7

The purpose of the PDA (now partially re-codified as the PRA) has been recognized by the Courts not to protect personal privacy as the appellants claim, but rather to "ensure the sovereignty of the people and the accountability of the governmental agencies that serve them" by providing full access to information concerning the conduct of government. Amren v. City of Kalama, 131 Wash.2d 15, 31, 929 P.2d 389 (1997).

The intent section of the PRA also contains strong language about the people's right to know being essential for control over the instruments they create. As Juvenal noted in Satire 6, the question of who shall guard the guardians is as old as infidelity or western civilization itself.

Defendants' answer to this question, that the public guardians and elected officials are free to act without oversight or accountability is

contrary to common sense, operational realities, and the manifest intent of the public records act, that the public remain informed so they may retain control over the instruments they have created. It is evident that this type of fictitious "privacy interest" is not one public servants have held or should be entitled to hold if we are to enjoy the benefits of popular sovereignty and the sound governance of a free society. As the Supreme Court held in <u>State v. Surge</u>, 160 Wn.2d 65, (2007)...

(t)he protections of article I, section 7 and the authority of law inquiry are triggered only when a person's private affairs are disturbed or the person's home is invaded. Carter, 151 Wn.2d at 126.... The "private affairs" inquiry focuses on " 'those privacy interests which citizens of this state have held, and should be entitled to hold, safe from governmental trespass absent a warrant'." Surge, citing State v. Young, 123 Wn.2d 173, 181, 867 P.2d 593 (1994) (quoting State v. Myrick, 102 Wn.2d 506, 511, 688 P.2d 151 (1984))

The key and critical distinction that defendants attempt to obscure is that a government official's "privacy interest" in evading public accountability in an email account where official business has been deliberately transacted in violation of an express warning, accepted practices and common sense is simply not a legitimate "privacy interest" which citizens of this state have held, and should be entitled to hold, safe from governmental trespass absent a warrant. Historically, no legitimate privacy interest has been recognized in the secret conduct of the people's

business by public officials. The Courts have repeatedly denied recognizing the "privacy" interest asserted by the defendants in this case.

A person's right to privacy is violated "only if disclosure of information about the person: (1) Would be highly offensive to a reasonable person, and (2) is not of legitimate concern to the public." RCW 42.17.255. Under these provisions, the use of a test that balances the individual's privacy interests against the interest of the public in disclosure is not permitted. Brouillet v. Cowles Publ'g Co., 114 Wash.2d 788, 798, 791 P.2d 526 (1990). Even if the disclosure of the information would be offensive to the employee, it shall be disclosed if there is a legitimate or reasonable public interest in its disclosure. Dawson v. Daly, 120 Wash.2d at 797-98, 845 P.2d 995 (1993).

This rule of law has its basis in the common sense principle that the disparate status of individuals has historically been a basis for differing standards of privacy, (See State v. Surge) and in the case of a government employee, a legitimate governmental interest in the integrity of government employees was enough to justify the intrusive search of a polygraph test. (See O'Hartigan v. Department of Personnel, 18 Wn.2d 111, (1991)

These cases should be dispositive of the frivolous "constitutional" claims made by the defendants in this case where Appellant Vermillion disregarded the express warning he received from the City and insisted upon using his "private" email account to send and receive over 400 email messages to and from the City of Puyallup concerning his duties as a public servant.

Under these circumstances, Vermillion's email address was not a private one that occasionally had government business transacted upon it, but rather was his official public address for communication with the City that was also occasionally used improperly by Council Member Vermillion to issue the messages of unknown content that both he and the City refuse to disclose.

Defendants also cite to an off point telephone text case involving a criminal investigation, (Hinson) but fail to note that the specific issue of Emails was directly resolved in a different manner in <u>State v. Townsend</u>, where the Court ruled

A person sends an e-mail message with the expectation that it will be read and perhaps printed by another person. To be available for reading or printing, the message first must be recorded on another computer's memory. Like a person who leaves a message on a telephone answering machine, a person who sends an e-mail message anticipates that it will be recorded. That person thus implicitly consents to having the message recorded on the addressee's computer. See <u>State v. Townsend</u>, 147 Wn.2d 666, (2002)

As operational realities, common sense, and the legitimate government interest in the sound governance of a free society dictate, a civil review of recorded emails sent from or received by a public officer's email account when public business has been conducted on it simply does not produce the same disturbance or invasion of "private affairs" as a criminal search of a private citizen's seized telephone for evidence of drug trafficking. Under the flawed view of the defendants, Article 1 Section 7

of the Constitution is a to be unreasonably employed as a virtual "suicide pact" fatal to the sound administration of a free society, popular sovereignty, public accountability, the appearance of fairness doctrine, and the Open Public Meetings Act, as well as the Public Disclosure and Public Records Acts. This perspective, while novel, simply does not make sense.

### C. Appellant's arguments ignore the operational realities of public service that establish a legitimate and compelling public interest in disclosure of the records documenting the conduct of public servants

Like the petitioner in <u>State v. Surge</u>, defendants in this case argue Article I, Section 7 of the Constitution of the State of Washington provides greater protection in all warrantless search situations and no exceptions apply. Defendants' arguments assume ordinary citizens and (public officers) enjoy the same privacy interests under the state constitution and, therefore, our article I, section 7 analysis will not vary based on the status of a petitioner.

As the petitioners did in Surge, defendants rely on a single sentence in State v. Simpson, 95 Wn.2d 170, 622 P.2d 1199 (1980), to assert that Article I, Section 7 recognizes an individual's right to privacy with no express limitations and, therefore, any invasion into a person's privacy requires either a warrant or a narrowly drawn exception to the warrant requirement. However, the Supreme Court in Surge also made short work of this argument...

Petitioners read Simpson too broadly. In Simpson, we focused our analysis on the Fourth Amendment to find the challenged search unreasonable. Also, in State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d 626, 81 P.3d 830 (2003), we declared article I, section 7 recognized an individual's right to privacy with no express limitations, but explicitly analyzed Cheatam's claim under state constitutional principles, and found Cheatam, as an arrestee, had lost any privacy interest in his personal items that had already been lawfully exposed to police view. Thus, while article I, section 7 does not expressly limit the right to privacy, not every asserted right qualifies as a "private affair." We still analyze the interest under state constitutional principles to determine if a valid privacy interest exists. We find the petitioners' arguments unpersuasive for two additional reasons. First, the constitutional rights afforded to a person often depend on his or her status...

As a person with the particular status of a public official, deliberately conducting public business on an ostensibly "private" email account, defendant Vermillion's rights to nondisclosure or confidentiality may be compromised when the State has a rational basis for doing so. The Supreme Court has ruled ...

(t)he right to nondisclosure of intimate personal information or confidentiality, may be compromised when the State has a rational basis for doing so, A,B,C,D,E, 121 Wn.2d 80 (1993), citing O'Hartigan, at 117... The use of polygraph testing by the State Patrol does not violate O'Hartigan's constitutional privacy rights. The State has demonstrated a legitimate governmental interest in providing its citizens with law enforcement employees of high moral character and integrity... Given the strong state interest in testing, we find no conflict with this branch of privacy. O'Hartigan v. State, 118 Wn.2d 111, at 117-120 (1991)

This basic principle was recently reinforced by Division III on March 18, 2015 in Martin v. Riverside School District, No. 31178-3-III.

Even in the context of criminal investigations, which, like polygraph examinations, are far more intrusive than a PRA records request, the State Supreme Court has consistently held that without a bona fide "private affair", there is no search and no requirement for authority of law.

The PRA provides a rational basis for any minor, de minimus review of records maintained by defendant Vermillion on a site used to transact public business. In this context is also significant to realize that had Puyallup City Council Member Vermillion really wished to secure his "privacy interests" he could have done so by the simple expedient of conducting all City business at his City address, as his Counsel Mr. Ramerman takes great pains to do.

## D. The Public Records Act is a comprehensive and predictable Legislative scheme for transparency and accountability in the conduct of public officials.

Even in the unlikely event the review of councilmember Vermillion's Emails is somehow found to constitute a "search", the comprehensive legislative scheme of the Public Records Act and the special needs of the people and the government to be able to rely upon the integrity and rectitude of public servants dispel any requirement for a warrant.

In the 2013 update to their Survey of Washington Search and Seizure Law, Justices Johnson and Stephens note that comprehensive and

predictable legislative schemes substitute for a warrant in certain situations.

Warrants are not required in certain limited situations when the searches are made pursuant to comprehensive and predictable legislative schemes. See Donovan v. Dewey, 452 U.S. 594, 598.99, 101 S. Ct. 2534, 69 L. Ed. 2d 262 (1981). Such situations are characterized by a substantial federal interest in inspection, as in the case of hazardous industries, and by the necessity of a warrantless inspection to enforce the legislative purpose. See id. At 598.99, 101 S. Ct. 2534 (congressional scheme authorizing warrantless inspections of mines found constitutional); see also Murphy v. State, 115 Wn. App. 297, 307.08, 62 P.3d 533 (2003) (state statute requiring pharmacies to keep records of dispensed prescriptions and to make them available for inspection by state pharmacy board or other law enforcement officer does not violate search and seizure provisions of either state or federal constitutions). Survey of Washington Search and Seizure Law: 2013 Justice Charles W. Johnson\* Justice Debra L. Stephens\*\*

As the Court recognized in Murphy...

(T)hese constitutional privacy protections are not absolute and must be balanced against the need for comprehensive and effective governmental oversight of prescription narcotic use and distribution...

Similarly, a public officer like Puyallup City Council member Vermillion's privacy interests are not absolute, but must be balanced against the equally important (or potentially more important) need for comprehensive and effective public oversight of the conduct of government, a recognized element of the sound governance of a democratic society.

As the Court recognized in O'Hartigan,

The use of polygraph testing by the State Patrol does not violate O'Hartigan's constitutional privacy rights. The State has demonstrated a legitimate governmental interest in providing its citizens with law enforcement employees of high moral character and integrity. O'Hartigan v. State, 118 Wn.2d 111, at 120 (1991)

A similar type of government interest exists in this case.

# E Appellant's arguments must fail because Article 1 Section 7 only protects against "disturbance" of rights that citizens have held and are entitled to hold, and the private conduct of public business is not such a right

Perhaps the most compelling reason that the appellants' arguments must fail is that the "right" of a public official to conduct the people's business in secret is simply not a right that citizens have held or should be entitled to hold under Article I, section 7.

The language of article I, section 7 requires a two-part analysis. The Courts begin by determining whether the action complained of constitutes a disturbance of one's private affairs. If there is no private affair being disturbed, no article I, section 7 violation exists.

The Courts have repeatedly held that Article 1, section 7 requires that in each case reasonableness must be considered in light of particular circumstances to determine if "private affairs" have been disturbed.

Evaluating the reasonableness of the...action and the extent of the intrusion, each case must be considered in light of the particular circumstances...."State v. Lesnick, 84 Wn.2d at 944. This is consistent with our approach to article 1, section 7 which requires us to look at the reasonableness of the officer's actions to determine whether "private affairs" were disturbed. State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1 (1986)

Defendant Vermillion voluntarily and deliberately conducted the people's business via his ostensibly "private" email address, violated the City's Social Media policy and established standards of care, and failed to exhaust available remedies under the Public Records Act to protect any legitimate constitutional or privacy interest that he might have had. Under these particular circumstances, and where available remedies to protect any legitimate privacy interests (as defined in the Restatement of Torts) have not been exhausted, a review of Council member Vermillion's email is not unreasonable and appellants can raise no judicially cognizable claim that any legitimate "private affair" will be invaded or disturbed.

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